In the

Supreme Court of Ohio

PRETERM-CLEVELAND, ET AL. : Case No. 2023-0004

:

Appellees, : On appeal from the Hamilton County

: Court of Appeals,

v. : First Appellate District

:

DAVE YOST, ATTORNEY GENERAL

OF OHIO, ET AL.,

Court of Appeals Case No. C-220504

:

Appellants. :

MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLANTS DAVE YOST, ET AL.

ALAN E. SCHOENFELD
MICHELLE NICOLE DIAMOND
PETER NEIMAN
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale
and Dorr LLP
7 World Trade Center
New York, NY 10007
212-230-8800
alan.schoenfeld@wilmerhale.com
michelle.diamond@wilmerhale.com
peter.neiman@wilmerhale.com

DAVINA PUJARI
CHRISTOPHER A. RHEINHEIMER
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale
and Dorr LLP
One Front Street
San Francisco, CA 94111

INTRODUCTION

The "Ohio Constitution creates a system of separation of powers." *TWISM Enters.*, *LLC v. State Bd. of Registration for Pro. Eng'rs & Surveyors*, __ Ohio St. 3d __, 2022-Ohio-4677 ¶30. This system protects liberty by vesting each branch with distinct authority — authority that, properly cabined but vigorously exercised, each branch can use to check the others' excesses. This division of authority, not the bill of rights, is the "true mettle" of our constitution, "the true long-term guardian of liberty." *In re MCP No. 165*, 20 F.4th 264, 269 (6th Cir. 2021) (Sutton, C.J., dissenting from denial of initial hearing *en banc*).

This case implicates the scope of the powers vested in each branch. It concerns the executive branch's power to defend, and the judicial branch's power to invalidate, the legislative branch's work.

Start with the legislature, which enacted Ohio's Heartbeat Act. *See* Sub. S.B. 23 (April 11, 2019). The Act protects unborn children and mothers alike. It protects unborn children by largely prohibiting doctors from ending the lives of those whose hearts have started to beat. It protects mothers by leaving doctors with leeway to perform medically necessary abortions. R.C. 2919.16(K); *see also* R.C. 2929.195(B); R.C. 2919.193(B).

Now consider the executive branch, and the Attorney General in particular. The Ohio Attorney General represents the State in challenges to state laws. He did exactly that when abortion clinics challenged the Heartbeat Act in federal court. The federal court preliminarily enjoined the Heartbeat Act as violative of the right to abortion that

the U.S. Supreme Court invented in *Roe v. Wade*, 410 U.S. 113 (1973) and *Planned Parenthood v. Casey*, 505 U.S. 833 (1992). But the U.S. Supreme Court overruled those decisions on June 24, 2022. *See Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Org.*, 142 S. Ct. 2228 (2022). That same day, the Attorney General exercised his duty to defend Ohio's law by moving to vacate the order enjoining the Heartbeat Act. The district court granted the motion.

Ohio's judiciary joined the fray months later, when the plaintiffs here—several abortion clinics and an abortionist—sued to enjoin the Act for allegedly violating the Ohio Constitution. The plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction. But they did not seek an injunction in hopes of protecting their own rights. Instead, they argued that the Act violated *their patients'* alleged right to abortion. The trial court accepted that argument, and it preliminarily enjoined the Act. The State appealed, but to no avail: the First District Court of Appeals held that the preliminary injunction was not a final order that the State could appeal immediately. Instead, the First District held, the Attorney General needed to wait for a final judgment from the trial court before filing an appeal seeking to vindicate the legislature's work.

Both the First District and the trial court unduly interfered with the other branches' prerogatives, and with this Court's oversight as well. A decision affirming their rulings will undermine the "true mettle" of our constitution. *MCP No. 165*, 20 F.4th at 269 (Sutton, C.J., dissenting from denial of initial hearing *en banc*).

Begin with the First District, which wrongly held that Ohio law forbade the State

from immediately appealing the preliminary injunction, thus interfering with the executive branch's power to defend state law. *See Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 2022-Ohio-4540 ¶¶18–28 (1st Dist.) ("App.Op."). The State has a statutory right to appeal preliminary injunctions in cases where the State "would not be afforded a meaningful or effective remedy by an appeal following final judgment." R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(b). The injunction here irreparably harmed the State. For one thing, the State always "suffers a form of irreparable injury" when it is enjoined "from effectuating statutes enacted by representatives of its people." *Maryland v. King*, 567 U.S. 1301, 1303 (2012) (Roberts, C.J., in chambers). Further, if the State is forced to wait for a final judgment before appealing, there will be no way to compensate the State later for the thwarting of its right to protect lives lost in the interim. So the State can immediately appeal.

Embracing the First District's holding would establish a precedent empowering trial courts around the State to hold state laws hostage. A single trial court, by issuing a preliminary injunction and slow-walking issuance of a final judgment, would be able to prevent the executive from enforcing a duly enacted law anywhere in the State for years. Sensing this, the plaintiffs here have asked the trial court to schedule *eighteen months* of discovery and motions practice preceding the issuance of a final judgment—a delay that will free them to violate Ohio law without consequence for the years-long duration of this case. To make matters worse, the decision below invites an uneven application of appealability principles. All parties agree that plaintiffs suing to stop alleged violations

of their constitutional rights—including plaintiffs asserting violations of an alleged constitutional right to abortion—can appeal orders denying preliminary injunctions. *See below* 24–25. What neutral principle could justify denying the State a reciprocal right to appeal orders *granting* preliminary injunctions? None whatsoever.

The trial court, for its part, wrongly held the abortionists and abortion clinics could sue to vindicate rights (allegedly) held by their patients, none of whom are parties here. The trial court thus enjoined the Heartbeat Act for violating an alleged right that no plaintiff before the court had standing to assert. By way of background, a plaintiff may sue to vindicate a third party's rights only when the plaintiff "possesses a sufficiently close relationship with the person who possesses the right," and only if some "hindrance ... stands in the way of the" right-holder "seeking relief" on her own behalf. Util. Serv. Partners, Inc. v. Pub. Utils. Comm'n, 124 Ohio St. 3d 284, 2009-Ohio-6764 ¶49 (2009) (quotation omitted). Abortionists and clinics satisfy neither requirement. First, "a woman who obtains an abortion typically does not develop a close relationship with the doctor who performs the procedure" or the clinic at which it is performed. June Med. Services LLC v. Russo, 140 S. Ct. 2103, 2168 (2020) (Alito, J., dissenting), overruled by Dobbs, 142 S. Ct. 2228. Indeed, clinics and abortionists "do not even know who" their future patients are. Id. at 2174 (Gorsuch, J., dissenting). Further, clinics and abortionists face a "conflict of interest" in representing their patients in a challenge to the Heartbeat Act, since their patients can sue them for abortions performed in violation of the Act. Cameron v. EMW Women's Surgical Center, PSC, ___ S.W.3d __, 2023 WL 2033788, *16 (Ky. Feb. 16, 2023). Second, no "hindrance" keeps women from suing to vindicate a claimed right to abortion. Util. Serv. Partners, 124 Ohio St. 3d 284 at ¶49 (quotation omitted). The most famous abortion case ever issued was brought by an individual plaintiff. See Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113. It would be tempting to dismiss the trial court's determination that women cannot represent themselves as treating women like children. But for decades, even juveniles have brought suits asserting their own claimed abortion rights. See below 32–33 (collecting cases).

In sum, neutral principles defeat the trial court's assertion of third-party standing. Its decision reflects an impulse to single out abortion for favorable treatment — an impulse to wield the law as an "ad hoc nullification machine" that courts may "set in motion to push aside whatever doctrines of constitutional law stand in the way" of facilitating abortion. Hill v. Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 741 (2000) (Scalia, J., dissenting) (quotation omitted). The U.S. Supreme Court, in overruling Roe v. Wade, noted that federal courts had "ignored" the "third-party standing doctrine" in service of abortion rights. Dobbs, 142 S. Ct. at 2275. Its decision repudiates those mistakes. Id. "This Court finds itself in the exceedingly rare position of being able to learn from a mistake in applying the law that [its] esteemed brothers and sisters on the U.S. Supreme Court have openly acknowledged making." Cameron, 2023 WL 2033788 at *17. "To perpetuate that mistake" in Ohio's courts "by creating a special exception for third-party standing in [Ohio] cases involving abortion would deliver neither predictability nor the promise of a judiciary bound by

law." *Id.* (quotation omitted). Worse, perpetuating this mistake would undermine the separation-of-powers principles that standing is meant to protect. The Court should reject the trial court's application of abortion-specific rules.

Because the First District improperly refused to hear the State's appeal, this Court should reverse. And because the appellees all lacked standing to seek the injunction they obtained, the Court should vacate that injunction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

1. This case concerns the constitutionality of Ohio's Heartbeat Act. The Act confers various protections on unborn children with beating hearts.

First, the Heartbeat Act requires any "person who intends to perform or induce an abortion" to first "determine whether there is a detectable fetal heartbeat of the unborn human individual the pregnant woman is carrying." R.C. 2919.192(A). This provision renumbers and modifies slightly a pre-existing law that, beginning in 2013, required doctors to check for fetal heartbeats before aborting babies. *See* R.C. 2919.191 & .192 (2013).

The Act adds force to this requirement by making it a crime to perform an abortion without first checking for a "detectable heartbeat." R.C. 2919.193(A). Critically, however, this criminal prohibition does not apply "to a physician who … believes that a medical emergency, as defined in section 2919.16 of the Revised Code, exists that prevents compliance." R.C. 2919.193(B). The referenced section defines "medical emergency" as:

a condition that in the physician's good faith medical judgment, based upon the facts known to the physician at that time, so complicates the woman's pregnancy as to necessitate the immediate performance or inducement of an abortion in order to prevent the death of the pregnant woman or to avoid a serious risk of the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function of the pregnant woman that delay in the performance or inducement of the abortion would create.

R.C. 2919.16(F). The law further defines "[s]erious risk of the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function" to mean:

any medically diagnosed condition that so complicates the pregnancy of the woman as to directly or indirectly cause the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function. A medically diagnosed condition that constitutes a "serious risk of the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function" includes pre-eclampsia, inevitable abortion, and premature rupture of the membranes, [and] may include, but is not limited to, diabetes and multiple sclerosis, and does not include a condition related to the woman's mental health.

R.C. 2919.16(K). All told, R.C. 2919.193(B) lifts the prohibition on aborting a child without checking for a heartbeat if, in the doctor's reasonable medical judgment, doing so would jeopardize the mother's life or long-term health.

Beyond requiring that doctors check for a heartbeat, the Act prohibits anyone who detects a fetal heartbeat from "knowingly and purposefully perform[ing] or induc[ing] an abortion on a pregnant woman." R.C. 2919.195(A). This prohibition, like the one discussed above, comes with a life-or-health exception: it "does not apply to a physician who performs a medical procedure that, in the physician's reasonable medical judgment, is designed or intended to prevent the death of the pregnant woman or to prevent a serious risk of the substantial and irreversible impairment of a major bodily function of the pregnant woman." R.C. 2919.195(B).

The Act's reach is much more limited than public commentary might suggest. The Act does not regulate contraceptive use. R.C. 2919.197. Its prohibitions apply "only to intrauterine pregnancies," not to ectopic pregnancies. R.C. 2919.191. And the Act imposes no liability on women who receive abortions. Its prohibitions apply exclusively to individuals who perform abortions on others. R.C. 2919.198.

While the just-discussed prohibitions lie at the Act's core, the Act does other things, too. One section creates a "joint legislative committee on adoption promotion and support." R.C. 2919.1910(A). Other sections govern various aspects of civil actions relating to violations. *See* R.C. 2919.199; R.C. 2919.1912.

2. Ohio's General Assembly passed the Heartbeat Act in 2019. Before it took effect, clinics challenged the Act in federal court. They found early success. *See Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 394 F. Supp. 3d 796 (S.D. Ohio 2019). The federal district court preliminarily enjoined the Act, which it held violated the right to abortion created by *Roe v. Wade*, 410 U.S. 113, and *Planned Parenthood v. Casey*, 505 U.S. 833.

Then came *Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Organization*, 142 S. Ct. 2228. *Dobbs* held that there is no federal constitutional right to abortion, reversing *Roe* and *Casey*. 142 S. Ct. at 2242. At that point, the federal district court hearing the challenge to the Heartbeat Act dissolved its injunction. *Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, No. 1:19-CV-00360, 2022 WL 2290526, *2 (S.D. Ohio June 24, 2022). On June 24, 2022, the Act took effect.

- **3.** The same parties who are plaintiffs in this case—several abortion clinics and one abortionist—responded by asking this Court for a writ of mandamus prohibiting the Act's enforcement. The Court, apparently unanimously, refused to issue relief on an emergency basis. *See State ex rel. Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 167 Ohio St. 3d 1448, 2022-Ohio-2317. Eventually, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed their case without awaiting a final ruling. *State ex rel. Preterm-Cleveland v. Yost*, 167 Ohio St. 3d 1510, 2022-Ohio-3174.
- **4.** Having failed to win relief in this Court, the plaintiffs sued in the court of common pleas. There, they moved for a temporary restraining order. The court granted the order about two weeks later. It determined that the Act likely violated the Ohio Constitution and that the equities favored temporarily enjoining it.

After holding a hearing, the court issued a preliminary injunction. Its opinion began by concluding that the plaintiffs had standing to seek an order enjoining the Act on the ground that it violated their patients' alleged right to abortion. *See* Order Granting Preliminary Injunction, Oct. 12, 2022 ¶¶73–80. Generally, plaintiffs may sue to vindicate only their own rights, not others' rights. But Ohio law recognizes third-party standing in cases where the plaintiff: (1) "suffers its own injury in fact"; (2) "possesses a sufficiently close relationship with the person who possesses the right," and (3) "shows some hindrance that stands in the way of the [right-holder] seeking relief" himself. *Id.* ¶76 (quoting *City of E. Liverpool v. Columbiana Cnty. Budget Comm'n*, 114 Ohio St. 3d 133, 2007-Ohio-3759 ¶25) (quotation marks omitted). Relying on federal cases allowing abortion

providers to vindicate their patients' abortion rights, the trial court found these requirements satisfied. *Id.* ¶¶79–80. In the part of the opinion addressing standing, the court noted in passing, and without providing reasoning or identifying the offending provisions, that the Heartbeat Act was unconstitutionally vague. *Id.* ¶78. But the plaintiffs did not raise a void-for-vagueness theory in seeking preliminary relief, *id.* ¶78 n.5, and the trial court did not address vagueness in its discussion of the merits, *id.* ¶¶81–123.

On the merits, the court concluded that Sections 1, 7, 16, 20 and 21 of the Ohio Constitution's first article combine to create a fundamental right to abortion. *Id.* ¶¶81–96. The substantive-due-process doctrine generally forbids States from enforcing laws that burden fundamental rights. Such laws will be upheld only if they satisfy strict scrutiny. The court held that the Heartbeat Act failed this exacting standard. *Id.* ¶¶97–111. It further concluded that the Heartbeat Act infringed the equal-protection guarantees in Article 1, Section 1, by burdening a fundamental right—the right to abortion—that only women may assert. *Id.* ¶¶112–23.

After deeming the Heartbeat Act unconstitutional, the court concluded that the equities supported an injunction. *Id.* ¶¶124–32. It enjoined nearly all of the Act. *Id.* ¶134. Its order allows the State to enforce only the Act's provisions relating to "adoption and foster care (R.C. 2919.1910 and R.C. 5103.11)"; "section 2919.193 naming the Act"; and "R.C. 2317.56(C)(2) regarding the internal Ohio Department of Health process for producing informed consent materials for the Department of Health." *Id.*

6. Later that same day, the appellants—this brief refers to them collectively as "the State"—appealed to the First District. That court *sua sponte* ordered briefing on the question whether the preliminary injunction was a final, appealable order. *See* Entry Ordering Jurisdictional Briefing (Oct. 28, 2022). After receiving that briefing (along with the State's opening merits brief), the First District dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction. App.Op. ¶1.

Under R.C. 2505.02(B)(4), preliminary injunctions qualify as final, appealable orders if the appealing party can make two showings. *First*, the appealing party must show that the appealed-from order is final "with respect to" the question whether a preliminary injunction is proper. R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(a). *Second*, the appealing party must show that it "would not be afforded a meaningful or effective remedy by an appeal following final judgment." R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(b).

The First District determined that, although the State could make the first showing, App.Op. ¶14, it could not make the second, *id*. ¶¶15–28. That second factor, the First District explained, required the State to show that it would sustain irreparable harm if not allowed to appeal immediately. The court acknowledged federal cases holding that "every order enjoining a valid state law inflicts 'serious and irreparable harm' on a state." *Id*. ¶16 (quoting *Thompson v. DeWine*, 976 F.3d 610, 619 (6th Cir. 2020) (*per curiam*)) (alterations accepted). But the First District declared these cases irrelevant to disputes arising within the state system. *Id*.

The First District also relied on lower-court cases stating that "a preliminary injunction which acts to maintain the status quo pending a ruling on the merits is not a final appealable order under R.C. 2505.02." App.Op. ¶21 (quoting *Quinlivan v. HEAT Total Facility Sols., Inc.,* 2010-Ohio-1603 ¶5 (6th Dist.)). The First District claimed that the injunction simply preserved "the status quo of legal and safe abortion access that ha[d] been in place in Ohio for nearly five decades" before *Dobbs*. App.Op. ¶23. On this basis too, the Court held the order unappealable under R.C. 2505.02.

Finally, the First District deemed inapplicable those cases permitting immediate appeals in circumstances where "the proverbial bell cannot be unrung" absent an interlocutory appeal. App.Op. ¶24 (quoting State v. Muncie, 91 Ohio St. 3d 440, 451, 2001-Ohio-93). Those cases, the court explained, have "focused on situations that would irreparably change the party's position between provisional remedy and final judgment." Id. "Classic scenarios include divulgence of attorney-client privileged communications or disclosure of other confidential information." Id. The State argued that these principles permitted its appeal. After all, a later appeal could neither retroactively restore the Act's enforceability for the period in which it was enjoined, nor restore the lives lost because of the injunction. But the First District disagreed. It claimed that allowing the State to appeal immediately in light of the first injury—namely, the inability to retroactively restore the Act's enforceability—would permit the State to immediately appeal every preliminary injunction. The First District was "unwilling to go that far." Id. ¶26. As for the lives

lost, the First District reasoned, those qualified as only third-party concerns in which Ohio had no valid interest. *Id.* ¶25.

The First District thus dismissed the State's appeal, instructing the State to await a final judgment before appealing.

- 7. Back in trial court, the plaintiffs proposed an eighteen-month-long trial schedule. Discovery would run until December 2023, and dispositive motions would not be fully briefed until May 2024. *See* Joint Scheduling Report, filed Dec. 8, 2022, at 2–3, 6. Any trial would thus be held in late 2024 or early 2025. The State resisted the plaintiffs' efforts to draw out the proceedings, noting that "no further discovery is necessary" because the case presents issues that are "legal, not factual." *Id.* at 3. What is more, the trial court had already said that its earlier legal conclusions were "law of the case" that it would not reconsider. Transcript, Oct. 7, 2022, at 402.
- 8. Before the trial court set a schedule, the State appealed the First District's ruling.
 This Court accepted jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

The First District had jurisdiction to hear the State's appeal of the preliminary-injunction order. This Court should say so. And it should consider the propriety of the preliminary injunction. More precisely, the Court should hold that, because the plaintiffs lacked standing to assert the right to abortion—the only right on which the injunction rests—the trial court erred in entering the preliminary injunction.

Appellants' Proposition of Law No. 1:

The State may, under R.C. 2505.02(B)(4), immediately appeal orders preliminarily enjoining state laws.

Ohio law permits aggrieved parties to appeal preliminary-injunction orders if (1) the trial court has finally decided the preliminary-injunction issue, and (2) there is no way in a later appeal to fully redress the harm the injunction inflicts on the appellant. R.C. 2505.02(B)(4). The State can make both showings. As such, it was entitled to appeal immediately the trial court's preliminary-injunction order.

I. R.C. 2505.02(B)(4) permits appeals from some preliminary-injunction orders.

In an ordinary case, a party may appeal only after the trial court enters a final judgment. But "occasions may arise in which a party seeking to appeal from an interlocutory order would have no adequate remedy from the effects of that order on appeal from final judgment." *Empower Aviation, LLC v. Butler Cty. Bd. of Commrs.*, 185 Ohio App. 3d 477, 2009-Ohio-6331 ¶18 (1st Dist.) (quotation and citation omitted). The General Assembly accounted for this. In particular, it enacted R.C. 2505.02, which defines certain interlocutory orders as "final," immediately appealable orders.

Relevant here, R.C. 2505.02(B)(4) governs appeals from orders relating to provisional remedies. A preliminary injunction is always a "provisional remedy." R.C. 2505.02(A)(3). Subsection (B)(4) permits immediate appeals of every "order that grants or denies a provisional remedy and to which both of the following apply":

- (a) The order in effect determines the action with respect to the provisional remedy and prevents a judgment in the action in favor of the appealing party with respect to the provisional remedy.
- (b) The appealing party would not be afforded a meaningful or effective remedy by an appeal following final judgment as to all proceedings, issues, claims, and parties in the action.

R.C. 2505.02(B)(4); see Muncie, 91 Ohio St. 3d at 445–46; Empower Aviation, 2009-Ohio-6331 ¶10.

The party wishing to appeal under this provision must satisfy both of R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)'s subsections. *Empower Aviation*, 2009-Ohio-6331 ¶10. Thus, to properly appeal a preliminary injunction, the appellant must make two showings. First, the appellant must show that the appealed-from order "prevents a judgment" for the appellant with respect to the provisional remedy itself; that is, the appellant must show that it cannot still win at the preliminary-injunction stage. *See* R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(a); *see Wells Fargo Ins. Servs. USA, Inc. v. Gingrich*, 2012-Ohio-677 ¶9 (12th Dist.). Second, the appellant must show that it would not be "afforded a meaningful or effective remedy" if forced to await final judgment before appealing. R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(b).

II. R.C. 2505.02(B)(4) permits Ohio's appeal of the preliminary-injunction order.

The State's appeal seeks review of a preliminary injunction. A preliminary injunction, by definition, is a provisional remedy potentially appealable under R.C. 2505.02. Thus, the State can appeal if it can make the two showings that R.C. 2505.02(B)(4) requires. The State has indisputably made the first showing, since the trial court's decision is final with respect to the preliminary injunction. The question becomes whether the

State can make the second showing. It can, because only an immediate appeal permits it to win a "meaningful or effective remedy." R.C. 2505.02(B)(4)(b).

A. The preliminary injunction irreparably injures Ohio in three ways.

In determining whether a later appeal will provide a "meaningful or effective remedy," courts must focus on whether "the proverbial bell" can "be unrung" later. *Muncie*, 91 Ohio St. 3d at 451 (quotation and brackets omitted). That is, courts must ask whether "an appeal after final judgment on the merits will … rectify the damage" done in the meantime. *Id.* (quotation omitted). When the appealing party cannot be made whole if forced to wait before appealing, the party's interest in speedy resolution trumps "courts' interest in avoiding piecemeal litigation." *Id.* For example, because there is no way to undo after final judgment an order forcing a criminal defendant to take psychotropic medication, an order requiring the administration of medicine may be immediately appealed. *Id.*

In this case, the State will suffer at least three forms of irreparable injury if it is not allowed to appeal immediately.

1. First, because the trial court's order enjoined state law, it necessarily injures Ohio every day that it remains in effect. This follows from the fact that court orders enjoining state laws always inflict irreparable harm on the State—irreparable harm that "only an interlocutory appeal" can stop. *Abbott v. Perez*, 138 S. Ct. 2305, 2324 (2018); *see King*, 567 U.S. at 1303 (Roberts, C.J., in chambers) (quoting *New Motor Vehicle Bd. of Cal. v.*

Orrin W. Fox Co., 434 U.S. 1345, 1351 (1977) (Rehnquist, J., in chambers)); *Thompson v. DeWine*, 976 F.3d 610, 619 (6th Cir. 2020) (*per curiam*).

This rule flows from first principles. "All political power is inherent in the people." Ohio Const. art. I, §2. The people created a government to exercise that political power. And the government they created vests each branch with different responsibilities. Ohioans elect legislators to represent their will in the General Assembly. They elect executive-branch officials to enforce the laws the General Assembly enacts. And they elect judges to adjudicate "suits and actions." *De Camp v. Archibald*, 50 Ohio St. 618, 625 (1893).

The adjudication of suits and actions entails judicial review. Adjudication requires the interpretation and application of law. And because the Constitution prevails over ordinary statutes in the event of a conflict, courts must refuse to enforce—they must hold unconstitutional—statutes that contradict the Constitution. *Rutherford v. McFaddon*, 2001-Ohio-56 at 4 (1807) (unpublished); *Murphy v. Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n*, 138 S. Ct. 1461, 1485–86 (2018) (Thomas, J., concurring).

Critically, however, courts frustrate the constitutional structure when they *incorrectly* deem a statute unconstitutional and enjoin its enforcement. Such orders, by definition, thwart the executive branch's enforcement of legislation that the people empowered the legislature to enact. Put differently, orders wrongly enjoining state laws deny the other branches (at least temporarily) the ability to exercise powers that the people

delegated to them.

It follows that, whenever a State is wrongly "enjoined by a court from effectuating statutes enacted by representatives of its people, it suffers a form of irreparable injury." King, 567 U.S. at 1303 (Roberts, C.J., in chambers) (quoting New Motor Vehicle Bd., 434 U.S. at 1351 (Rehnquist, J., in chambers)); accord Thompson, 976 F.3d at 619. Such injunctions always alter the distribution of governmental power—a distribution that the people adopted and charged the State with protecting. So unless a "statute is unconstitutional," an order enjoining it "seriously and irreparably harm[s] the State" by denying it the ability to faithfully execute powers entrusted to it by the people. Abbott, 138 S. Ct. at 2324 (footnote omitted). "[O]nly an interlocutory appeal can protect that State interest," as only an interlocutory appeal allows the State to avoid the irreparable harm it will suffer while it is blocked from carrying out the duties assigned to it. Id. Put in terms of Ohio law, an order enjoining the enforcement of a constitutionally valid law rings a "bell [that] cannot be unrung" after final judgment. Muncie, 91 Ohio St. 3d at 451 (quotation omitted). A later appeal cannot repair the harm done during the (potentially prolonged) period in which the will of the people, as reflected in the work of their elected representatives, was thwarted.

When the State seeks to appeal a preliminary injunction preventing enforcement of the law, it gets the benefit of a presumption that the law is constitutional. To be sure, an order enjoining an unconstitutional law *protects* the distribution of power set forth in

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