In th	e				
Supreme Court of Ohio						
PRETERM-CLEVELAND, ET AL.	:	Case No. 2023-0004				
Appellees,	:	On appeal from the Hamilton County Court of Appeals,				
v.	:	First Appellate District				
DAVE YOST, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF OHIO, ET AL.,	:	Court of Appeals Case No. C-220504				
Appellants.	:					

# BRIEF OF APPELLEES PRETERM-CLEVELAND, ET AL. REGARDING THE PASSAGE OF ISSUE 1

B. JESSIE HILL (0074770) *Counsel of Record* FREDA J. LEVENSON (0045916) REBECCA KENDIS (0099129) ACLU of Ohio Foundation 4506 Chester Ave. Cleveland, OH 44103 614-586-1972 bjh11@cwru.edu flevenson@acluohio.org rebecca.kendis@case.edu

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

#### ARGUMENT

While the Ohio Constitution *already* provided for a fundamental right to abortion through its substantive due process, health care freedom, and sex equality protections, *see* PI Order at ¶ 84, the Amendment's addition makes it all the more clear that the State "shall not, directly or indirectly, burden, penalize, prohibit, interfere with, or discriminate against" that right. Ohio Const. art. I, §22(B). It is beyond question that S.B. 23 does precisely what the Amendment forbids, and accordingly it cannot survive the Amendment's passage. The Attorney General has publicly conceded that the Amendment would have such an impact. Because the Amendment will resolve the underlying litigation and because it presents a significant change in the law governing the dispute between the parties on which the current appeal rests, there is no need for this Court to decide the questions currently before it. In addition, the Amendment underscores that the State suffers no harm from the inability to immediately appeal the preliminary injunction.

#### I. THE AMENDMENT RESOLVES THE UNDERLYING LITIGATION.

As of December 7, 2023, the Ohio Constitution expressly forbids the State from prohibiting abortion prior to viability. *See* Ohio Const. art. I, §22(B). There is no question that S.B. 23 bans abortion prior to viability. *Compare* PI Order at  $\P$  2 *with* Ohio Const. art. I, §22(C)(1) (defining "[f]etal viability" as "the point in a pregnancy when, in the professional judgment of the pregnant patient's treating physician, the fetus has a significant likelihood of survival outside the uterus with reasonable measures"). Because of the clear, facial constitutional violation, the trial court will be able to resolve this case on the merits without

3

requiring further discovery. Appellees intend to file an amended complaint in the trial court which will assert an additional cause of action under Article I, Section 22. Additionally, Appellees intend to file a dispositive motion that would allow the trial court to swiftly resolve the case, given the plain text of the Amendment and Appellant Yost's public concession. *See* Ohio Att'y Gen., *Issue 1 on the November 2023 Ballot: A legal analysis by the Ohio Attorney General* ("[S.B. 23] would not exist if Issue 1 passes."). A dispositive ruling by the trial court granting permanent relief would eliminate the need for this Court to address the appealability of the trial court's prior order granting preliminary relief.

Swift resolution of the case by the trial court would moot the State's appeal before this Court. "A matter becomes moot when the issues are no longer live." *Jacobson v. Akron Children's Hosp.*, 2023-Ohio-2225, 220 N.E.3d 953, ¶ 54 (9th Dist.) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). As soon as the trial court grants final relief—which is plainly appealable—the appealability of any preliminary relief would no longer be an issue. And there can be no doubt that such final relief will come soon, given the Amendment's plain text and the Attorney General's unequivocal public concession that the "[p]assage of Issue 1 would invalidate the Heartbeat Act." Ohio Att'y Gen., *Issue 1 on the November 2023 Ballot: A legal analysis by the Ohio Attorney General.* 

Were this Court to issue a ruling on the appealability of preliminary relief, it would be giving an opinion "on abstract propositions." *Fortner v. Thomas*, 22 Ohio St. 2d 13, 14, 257 N.E.2d 371 (1970). Such opinions are improper. *Id.* The State may *want* a ruling on whether it may appeal preliminary orders that enjoin state laws—but this appeal is not the proper vehicle for such a ruling because the unconstitutionality of the enjoined law is no longer in doubt.<sup>1</sup> It is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Moreover, the standing issue currently before the Court is no longer relevant because standing is claim-specific and, as noted above, Appellees intend to promptly move to amend

this Court's "settled judicial responsibility," *id.*, to refrain from giving opinions in circumstances like these, where there are no questions of law that "affect the matters *in issue in the case before*" it, *State v. Bistricky*, 66 Ohio App. 3d 395, 397, 584 N.E.2d 75 (8th Dist. 1990) (emphasis added).<sup>2</sup>

In sum, in light of the new Article I, Section 22, the merits of the underlying case have fundamentally changed in such a way that the final outcome below is now foretold. As a result, there exists no "actual controvers[y] between parties legitimately affected by specific facts," *Fortner*, 22 Ohio St. 2d at 14 (emphasis added), and, accordingly, this appeal should be dismissed as moot.

#### II. SHOULD THIS COURT DECIDE THE APPEAL, THE PASSAGE OF ISSUE 1 ONLY STRENGTHENS PLAINTIFFS' POSITION.

Should the Court address appealability, it must find that the order preliminarily enjoining S.B. 23 is not a final appealable order. The State primarily argues that the order preliminarily enjoining S.B. 23 is immediately appealable because the State suffers harm by not being able to enforce its law. *See* State Br. 16. This argument effectively urges the Court to afford it a "benefit of presumption" that S.B. 23 is constitutional, such that it could suffer harm by being preliminary enjoined from enforcing a constitutional law. State Br. at 18-19.

their complaint to add a cause of action under Article I, Section 22 that will dispose of this lawsuit in its entirety.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In *State v. Bistricky*, the Court of Appeal for the Eighth District declined to entertain the State's appeal of a trial court's motion for acquittal in part because legislation passed after the acquittal "substantially amend[ed] the pertinent criminal statute," noting that an "advisory opinion on the statute as it was at the time of trial and prior to amendment would serve no purpose and would constitute a waste of judicial time." 66 Ohio App. 3d at 397. The same principles apply here.

As Appellees have already explained, the State's position would upend well-established Ohio law that preliminary injunctions are only appealable in the narrow circumstances set forth in R.C. 2505.02(B)(4). *See* Appellee Br. at 13-20. Those specific and narrow circumstances manifestly do not include an exception permitting immediate appeal of all injunctions against the enforcement of state law. This bars the State's appeal. Additionally, in light of the Amendment, the State's position is particularly untenable. It can claim *no* harm related to its inability to enforce S.B. 23 because S.B. 23 is emphatically unconstitutional. *See Newburgh Heights v. State*, 2021-Ohio-61, 166 N.E.3d 632, ¶ 76 (8th Dist.), *rev'd on other grounds*, 168 Ohio St. 3d 513, 2022-Ohio-1642, 200 N.E.3d 189 ("[T]he state cannot be harmed when an unconstitutional law does not go into effect."). There can be no "presumption" of constitutionality here—the Ohio Constitution precluded such a presumption *prior* to the Amendment, *see* Appellee Br., and it is now indisputable. The State alleges harm that simply does not exist. As such, the State will have an adequate and effective remedy when final judgment is entered below.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellees respectfully request that this Court dismiss the instant appeal as improvidently accepted in light of the passage of Issue 1.